IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

/

DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 65-525	
یر به ۱۹۹۰ میر ۱۹۹۰ ۱۹۹۰ م	
د بر	and stated and the state of the

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RONALD R. FINDELL, ESQUIRE Suite 402, Bradshaw Building 65 N. Orange Avenue Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 425-7676

Attorney for Appellant

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

During the early morning hours of November 5, 1983, the Defendant, DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON, called the Orlando Police Department and asked them to respond to 406 E. Ridgewood Avenue in reference to a possible homicide. Upon their arrival, the officers went to the southwest upstairs bedroom and found the dead body of Mary Hammond. After interviewing the Defendant and determining that there were discrepancies in his tale of finding the victim, the police placed the Defendant under arrest for the murder of Mary Hammond (TR: Pages 1898-1908).

A preliminary hearing was held on November 21, 1983, before Judge Thomas R. Kirkland. After hearing the testimony of the medical examiner and the police officers investigating the murder, the judge found probable cause to hold the Defendant on the charge of murder in the first degree (TR: Pages 1910-1911).

On November 23, 1984, Clyde E. Wolfe, the Asssistant Public Defender appointed to represent the Defendant, filed a Motion for Notification of the Convening of the Grand Jury and a Motion to Voir Dire the Individual Grand Juror Members (TR: Pages 1912-1915). The Motions were denied following a hearing on the Motions held on December 2, 1983 (TR: Page 1916). On December 5, 1983, the Grand Jury returned an Indictment charging the Defendant with the first degree murder of Mary Hammond (TR: Page 1918).

On December 28, 1983, the Office of the Public Defender filed a Motion to Withdraw as counsel for the Defendant based on the fact that an irreconcilable conflict had developed between their office and the Defendant due to his refusal to follow the advice and direction of his counsel (TR: Pages 1945-1946). The court took the Motion under advisement (TR: Page 1947).

- 2 -

On January 3, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed a Notice of Intent to Rely Upon the Defense of Insanity and a Motion for Psychiatric Evaluation (TR: Pages 1949-1951). On January 4, 1984, the court granted the Defendant's Motion for Psychiatric Evaluation and entered its Order appointing Dr. J. Lloyd Wilder and Dr. Robert Pollack to examine the Defendant regarding his competency to stand trial (TR: Pages 1953-1954). On January 17, 1984, Dr. Wilder filed his report finding that the Defendant, in spite of a past history of mental illness, was not only competent to stand trial, but was also sane at the time of the commission of the murder (TR: Page 1961).

On January 27, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed a Motion for Appointment of an Expert to examine the Defendant regarding both his competency to stand trial and his sanity at the time of the commission of the murder (TR: Pages 2006-2008). The court granted the Motion on February 21, 1984, and appointed Dr. William Tell to examine the Defendant. A hearing on the Defendant's competency to stand trial was held on March 2, 1984. Following the hearing, the court ruled that the Defendant was competent to stand trial (TR: Pages 2142-2143).

On March 6, 1984, the court entered its Order denying the Defendant's Motion to discharge his court-appointed counsel and allow him to represent himself (TR: Page 2144). On April 18, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed a Motion to Produce the Criminal Record of the Defendant (TR: Pages 2213-2214). On April 24, 1984, his attorney filed a Motion to Enforce Section 914.04, Florida Statutes (1983), alleging that the Statute was self-executing and automatically granted use immunity to the Defendant (TR: Pages 2226-2227). On the same day, his attorney also filed a Memorandum of Law in support of his Motion to Strike Death As a Possible Penalty (TR: Pages 2228-2232). A hearing was held on the the above three Motions. Following the hearing, the court granted the Motion to Produce the Criminal Record of the Defendant (TR: Page 2258).

- 3 -

On April 26, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed more motions, including a Motion to Dismiss the Indictment or to Declare That Death Is Not a Possible Penalty, a Motion to Vacate the Death Penalty, a Motion to Dismiss the Indictment, a Motion for Statement of Aggravating Circumstances, a Motion to Preclude Challenges for Cause, a Motion in Liminie requesting that the prosecuting attorney be prohibited from questioning any prospective jurors as to whether they possessed opinions either in favor of or opposed to the death penalty, and a Motion for Individual Voir Dire and Sequestration of Jurors during Voir Dire (TR: Pages 2234-2257).

1<sup>1</sup>

On April 27, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed a Motion for Additional Peremptory Challenges, a Motion for a List of the Prospective Jurors, and a Motion for Individual and Sequestered Voir Dire (TR: Pages 2268-2281). On May 1, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed a Motion in Liminie requesting the court to enter an Order prohibiting the State from introducing into evidence a statement of the Defendant tape-recorded on December 19, 1984 (TR: Pages 2285-2285).

Trial in this cause was held from May 14, 1984, through May 18, 1984. After deliberating, the jury returned a verdict finding the Defendant guilty of murder in the first degree (TR: Page 1022, lines 17-25). The court then adjudicated the Defendant to be guilty of the crime and remanded him to custody pending the penalty phase hearing scheduled for May 29, 1984 (TR: Page 1029, lines 2-16).

On May 29, 1984, the court reconvened to conduct the penalty phase of the trial. After hearing the of testimony and evidence regarding the aggravating and mitigating circumstances surrounding the Defendant's murder of Mary Hammond, the jury returned with an advisory sentence of death (TR: Pages 1225, lines 5-20). The court set sentencing for June 1, 1984 (TR: Page 1229, lines 14-25).

- 4 -

On June 1, 1984, following its denial of the Defendant's Motion for New Trial, the court sentenced the Defendant to death by electrocution (TR: Pages 1232-1252). It is from this judgment and sentence that the Defendant takes his appeal.

· · · · ·

ν.

٠.

۰.,

#### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

т. Х. Х. Т. Х.

`\* • .

٠.

#### ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO VOIR DIRE INDIVIDUAL GRAND JUROR MEMBERS AND HIS MOTION FOR NOTIFICATION OF CONVENING OF GRAND JURY.

#### ARGUMENT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO PRECLUDE CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF THE POTENTIAL JURORS.

#### ARGUMENT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO VACATE DEATH PENALTY.

#### ARGUMENT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE AND SEQUESTRATION OF THE JURORS DURING VOIR DIRE.

#### ARGUMENT V

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR STATEMENT OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

#### ARGUMENT VI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS TO STRIKE DEATH AS A POSSIBLE PENALTY AND HIS MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT OR TO DECLARE THAT DEATH IS NOT A POSSIBLE PENALTY.

#### ARGUMENT VII

۳ ۱ ۱

·• • • •

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO ENFORCE SECTION 914.04, FLORIDA STATUTES (1983) AND HIS MOTION IN LIMINIE REQUESTING THE COURT TO PROHIBIT THE STATE FROM INTRODUCING INTO EVIDENCE THE STATEMENT OF THE DEFENDANT DISCUSSING TWO LETTERS FORWARDED TO HIS ATTORNEY'S, CLYDE E. WOLFE AND KENNETH J. COTTER.

#### ARGUMENT VIII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT.

#### ARGUMENT IX

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION IN LIMINIE REQUESTING THE COURT TO PROHIBIT THE STATE FROM QUESTIONING ANY PROSPECTIVE JURORS AS TO THEIR ATTITUDES TOWARDS CAPITAL PUNISHMENT PRIOR TO THERE BEING A DECISION BY SUCH JURORS AS TO THE GUILT OR INNOCENCE OF THE DEFENDANT.

#### ARGUMENT X

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISCHARGE HIS COURT APPOINTED COUNSEL AS WELL AS HIS COURT APPOINTED COUNSEL'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW.

#### ARGUMENT XI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING THE COURT'S DENIAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AT THE CLOSE OF THE STATE'S CASE-IN-CHIEF.

#### ARGUMENT XII

۰.,

۰,

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING THE COURT'S DENIAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S SEVERAL MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL CONCERNING IMPROPER <u>WILLIAMS RULE</u> EVIDENCE OF OTHER OFFENSES THE DEFENDANT MAY HAVE BEEN CHARGED WITH OR ACCUSED OF COMMITTING.

#### ARGUMENT XIII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING THE COURT'S DENIAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION PRIOR TO AND DURING TRIAL TO THE SHACKLING OF THE DEFENDANT'S LEGS.

#### ARGUMENT XIV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTIONS TO THE VOIR DIRE PROCESS.

#### ARGUMENT\_XV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING HIS OBJECTIONS TO THE PROSECUTOR'S QUESTIONING OF KAREN FRITZ AND OFFICER KENNETH RAY ROBERTS IN AREAS WHICH WERE OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF CROSS-EXAMINATION.

#### ARGUMENT XVI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING HIS OBJECTION TO THE INTRODUCTION OF A GRUESOME, PREJUDICIAL COLOR PHOTOGRAPH OF THE DECEDENT AND IN DENYING HIS MOTION FOR NEW SENTENCING PROCEDURE REGARDING HIS OBJECTION TO THE PUBLISHING OF ANOTHER GRUESOME COLOR PHOTOGRAPH OF THE DECEDENT TO THE JURY.

#### ARGUMENT XVII

۲ ۲ ۲

`\* ` ` `

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING HIS OBJECTION TO THE TESTIMONY OF EVIDENCE TECHNICIAN DONALD OSTERMEYER ABOUT A LUMINOL TEST FOR BLOOD HE HAD PERFORMED ON THE DEFENDANT'S CLOTHING.

#### ARGUMENT XVIII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING HIS REQUEST THAT THE COURT GIVE INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY ON AGGRAVATED BATTERY, BATTERY AND ASSAULT.

#### ARGUMENT XIX

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL REGARDING HIS REQUEST THAT THE COURT GIVE AN INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY ON CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

#### ARGUMENT XX

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW SENTENCING PROCEDURE REGARDING THE IMPROPER COMMENT BY THE PROSECUTOR TO THE JURY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL.

#### ARGUMENT XXI

THE DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WAS DENIED TO HIM THROUGH COMMENTS MADE BY A STATE WITNESS AND THE PROSECUTOR HIMSELF ON THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

#### ARGUMENT XXII

• , , •

<sup>ч</sup>е т. т.

۰.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT TO DEATH FOLLOWING THE RENDERING BY THE JURY OF AN ADVISORY OPINION OF DEATH TO THE COURT.

#### ARGUMENT I

۰ ۲۰ ۲۰

۰,

۰,

#### THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO VOIR DIRE INDIVIDUAL GEAND JUROR MEMBERS AND HIS MOTION FOR NOTIFICATION OF CONVENING THE GRAND JURY.

On November 22, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed a Motion to Voir Dire Individual Grand Jurors and a Motion for Notification of Convening the Grand Jury (TR: Pages 1912-1915). On December 2, 1983, the court denied the Motions (TR: Page 1916). As a result of the denial of the Motions, the Defendant was indicted by the Grand Jury on December 5, 1983 (TR: Page 1918).

Section 905.02, Florida Statutes (1983), provides that a person who has been to held to answer may challenge the panel or individual grand jurors. Section 905.04, Florida Statutes (1983), provides that a person who has been held to answer may challenge an individual prospective grand juror on the ground that the juror:

"a. Does not have the qualifications required by law;

b. Has a state of mind that will prevent him from acting impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging;

c. Is related by blood or marriage within the third degree to the defendant, to the person alleged to be injured by the offense charged, or to the person on whose complaint the prosecution was initiated."

The Grand Jury, in and for Orange County, Florida, Fall Term, 1983, was empaneled and sworn on October 17, 1983. Although Section 905.05, Florida Statutes (1983), states that a challenge or objection to the grand jury may not be made after it has been empaneled and sworn, Section 905.05 further provides that the section "shall not apply to a person who did not know or have reasonable ground to believe at the time the grand jury was empaneled and sworn, that cases in which he was or might be involved would be investigated by the grand jury".

۰,

Since the murder in this case was not committed until November 5, 1983, the Defendant obviously could not have known on October 17, 1983, that his case might be investigated by the Grand Jury. As such, he was entitled to notification of the date the Grand Jury would convene to consider whether to return a True Bill against the Defendant for murder in the first degree so that the Defendant could properly exercise his right to challenge the individual grand jurors as outlined above.

By denying the Motions, the trial court violated the Defendant's right to due process of law as guaranteed to him by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as by Article I, Sections Nine, Fifteen and Sixteen of the Florida Constitution. Therefore, the Defendant's conviction should be reversed and the Defendant discharged as a result of the violation of his right to due process of law or, in the alternative, his conviction should be reversed, and this cause remanded to the lower court for a new trial.

#### ARGUMENT II

۶. (۲. <sup>6</sup>۴

۰.

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO PRECLUDE CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF THE POTENTIAL JURORS.

On April 26, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed a Motion to Preclude Challenge for Cause (TR: Pages 2251-2252). During a hearing on this and other Motions held on May 4, 1984, the trial court denied the Motion (TR: Page 1072, line 2). As a result of the denial of the Motion, several jurors were challenged for cause by the State and removed as potential jurors simply on the ground that they did not think it was legally or morally right to vote for the imposition of the death penalty if they found the Defendant guilty of murder in the first degree.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as Article I, Sections Nine and Twenty-Two of the Florida Constitution, guarantee the Defendant the right to a fair trial represented by jurors selected from a representative cross-section of the community. The exclusion of prospective jurors who might not vote for the imposition of the death penalty unconstitutionally violates the above-mentioned sections of the Florida and United States Constitution by effectively denying the Defendant a trial by a jury selected from a representative cross-section of the community. <u>Davis v. Georgia</u>, 429 U.S. 122, 97 S.Ct. 399, 50 L.Ed. 2d 339 (1976); <u>Mathis v. New Jersey</u>, 403 U.S. 946, 91 S.Ct. 2277, 29 L.Ed. 2d 855 (1971); <u>Maxwell v. Bishop</u>, 398 U.S. 262, 90 S.Ct. 1578, 26 L.Ed. 2d 222 (1969); <u>Boulden v. Holman</u>, 394 U.S. 478, 89 S.Ct. 1138, 22 L.Ed. 2d 433 (1970); <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1170, 20 L.Ed. 2d 776 (1968).

Furthermore, the practice of excluding these potential jurors for this one reason furthers no permissible State interest since:

The jury does not render the final imposition of sentence, but only acts in an advisory capacity to the court;

۳ ۲۰.۰۰۳ ۲۰

· .

۰.

The advisory sentence rendered by the jury occurs at the second stage of the bifurcated trial, not during the first stage where the jury sits solely to determine the guilt or innocence of the Defendant; and

The advisory sentence is not rendered unanimously, but by majority vote.

It is clear that this practice ultimately subjects the Defendant to a trial by a jury that is neither a representative cross-section of the community nor impartial. Instead, the Defendant is tried by a jury biased in favor of the prosecution, both during the trial proper and the penalty phase. Even if it could be argued that the granting of this challenge for cause is a permissible State interest, the State and court would certainly suffer no harm or prejudice, other than a little loss of time, in allowing this challenge for cause to be used during the selection of a new jury for the penalty phase of the trial. Thus, the Defendant's conviction should be reversed and this cause remanded to the lower court for a new trial.

#### ARGUMENT III

т Х. Х. Ча К.

· ,

۰,

## THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO VACATE DEATH PENALTY.

On April 26, 1984, Counsel for the Defendant filed a Motion to Vacate Death Penalty (TR: Pages 2236-2244). During a hearing on this and other Motions held on May 4, 1984, the trial court denied the Motion (TR: Page 1071, line 20). As a result of the denial of the Motion, the Defendant was sentenced to death following his conviction for murder in the first degree.

Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1983), is unconstitutional on its face in that it is violative of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as Article I, Sections Nine and Seventeen of the Florida Constitution. The aggravating and mitigating circumstances as enumerated in this section are impermissibly vague and overbroad.

Section 921.141(5)(a), Florida Statutes (1983), states that an aggravating circumstance may result if the capital felony was committed by a person under the sentence of imprisonment. This circumstance is overbroad in that in makes no distinction between a person imprisoned for a non-violent crime and one imprisoned for a violent crime.

Section 921.141(5)(b), Florida Statues (1983), states that an aggravating circumstance may result if the person has been previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence. This circumstance is overbroad in that the circumstances, other than violence, surrounding the prior felony are not considered.

Section 921.141(5)(c), Florida Statutes (1983), states that an aggravating circumstance may result if the person knowingly creates a great risk to many persons. This circumstance is irrefutably vague simply due to its qualifying adjectives. Furthermore, although the Legislature intended that this circumstance was to be directed towards hijacking and bombings, it has been applied in fact to encompass almost any murder.

\* , 'r 'r

٩,

Section 921.141(5)(d), Florida Stautes (1983), states that an aggravating circumstance may result if the person is involved in a felony murder. This circumstance is factually overbroad in that a capital felony committed during the enumerated felonies contained within this section automatically produces an aggravating circumstance and thus carries with it a presumption of death without regard to the individual facts surrounding each case. Consideration of this aggravating circumstance could lead to a sentence of death which is totally disproportionate to the defendant's conduct. As stated in Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584, 97 S.Ct. 2861, 53 L.Ed. 2d 982 (1977), "(A) punishment is excessive and unconstitutional if it is grossly out of proportion to the severity of the crime." Pursuant to this circumstance, a "wheelman" whose co-defendant accidentally kills someone during the commission of an enumerated felony would presumptively and automatically be considered for a death sentence, while a cold-blooded premeditated murderer could conceivably be exempt from any aggravating circumstance. The arbitrariness of the circumstance is self-evident.

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