IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

C, CLEF 31 CASE NO. 65,525

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD W. PROSPECT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 North Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#### TOPICAL

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

-39-

In circumstances such as these, this court has both established and continuously adhered to the rule that the necessity to declare a mistrial should be exercised with great caution and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity. <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978). That rule was applied in <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1983) to uphold the denial of a motion for mistrial made when a prosecutor asked a question which might have created an impression with the jury that the defendant had been arrested for other crimes. <u>See also, Dunn v. State</u>, 341 So.2d 806 (Fla. 3d DCA1977); <u>Riley v. State</u>, 367 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

The facts in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 354 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1978) contain a witness's reference to the defendant having been previously imprisoned. That reference, without more, was held not to have been sufficient to require a mistrial in light of the curative instruction given by the court.

Another such case is <u>Warren v. State</u>, 443 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), in which a prosecutor asked a witness whether he knew the two defendants. The reply was: "I seen them -- when I was down in prison --," 443 So.2d 383. A motion for mistrial was made and denied and no request for curative instruction was made. In considering the propriety of that statement, the court found that although the remark was improper, it was not so egregious as to merit a mistrial. The rule of <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, was utilized to conclude that the most the error required was a curative instruction.

-40-

Finally, in Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla.

1982), the offending witness was an original co-defendant who, while testifying for the state, stated: "the first time . . .my first time in prison, all three of us [Ferguson included] was together." 417 So.2d at 642. The <u>general</u> objection and <u>general</u> motion for mistrial were faulted by this court as insufficient. The absence of a request for curative instruction was also deemed critical.

In language which controls this issue, this court stated:

The defendant now contends that a prior imprisonment was irrelevant to his guilt or innocence in this case; the only result would be to show that the defendant's "bad character". Such remarks may be erroneously admitted yet not be so prejudicial as to require reversal. Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 429 U.S. 1036, 97 S.Ct. 729, 50 L.Ed.2d 747 (1977); Thomas v. State, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1975). In Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 405 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), the court noted that any prejudice arising from the admission of testimony indicating defendant's prior incerceration could have been corrected by an instruction to the jury to disregard the testimony. The court held that in the absence of a defense request for such an instruction, the trial court properly denied the motion for a mistrial. Our review of this record persuades us that the admission of Archie's testimony in this matter was not so prejudicial as to warrant a reversal. See Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

From the above it is seen therefore that the particular remarks now complained of were not sufficient to have required the granting of a mistrial. The first remark, inadvertent and perhaps improper, was not so egregious. The second remark was not timely objected to and is practically identical to the one appearing in <u>Warren v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. The final remark, we contend, was relevant for reasons discussed above and even if it were considered improper, was not made on the basis of a request for a curative instruction and consequently, a mistrial was not required.

# POINT XIII

APPELLANT SUFFERED NO PREJUDICE BY BEING REQUIRED TO WEAR LEG RESTRAINTS.

# ARGUMENT

This issue was raised and summarily rejected in

Medina v. State, supra.

#### POINT XIV

THE PROPRIETY OF THE TRIAL COURT'S SWEARING IN OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS IMMEDIATELY UPON ACCEPTANCE HAS NOT BEEN PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR APPEL-LATE REVIEW.

#### ARGUMENT

The record amply supports the notion that in an obvious effort to move the case along, the trial court exercised its sound discretion [see, Mathis v. State, 45 Fla. 46, 34 So. 287 (Fla. 1903)] and utilized a procedure whereby after full and complete examination, once a prospective juror was accepted by the state and the defense, he or she was sworn for duty. Appellant objected to this procedure contending that it prevented back-striking. The court responded that the procedure was not designed to prevent back-striking in general (R 167).

Whether the court's statement was accurate is something that will never be known since at no time did appellant attempt to back-strike a previously sworn juror. It follows therefore, that none of the jurors ultimately selected was in any way unacceptable.

While <u>dicta</u> in <u>Grant v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 758 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) has been subsequently elevated to a blanket prohibition against back-striking in general, <u>see, King v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), before the procedure may be reviewed on appeal, it must be properly preserved by virtue of an attempt to back-strike a previously sworn juror. (This was done in Denham v. State, 421 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982),

-44-

relied upon in <u>Grant</u>, <u>supra.</u>)

This requirement has been approved by this court in <u>Rivers v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 1762 (Fla. 1984) not only as a general notion of procedural default, but also as something subject to harmless error consideration.

## POINT XV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVER-RULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO QUESTIONS ASKED ON REDIRECT EXAM-INATION.

#### ARGUMENT

Without citation of authority or any meaningful argument, appellant simply asserts that he is entitled to a new trial because of the trial court allowing the state to ask two isolated questions on redirect examination of two of its witnesses.

At least as early as <u>Noeling v. State</u>, 40 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1949), this court espoused the general notion that a party may re-examine a witness about any matter brought up on cross-examination. As recently as <u>Maggard v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1981), the court recognized that a trial court has a broad range of discretion with regard to the examination and cross-examination of witnesses, even in a capital case.

Given this broad discretion, it is fairly easy to sustain the trial court's ruling in both instances complained of. On cross-examination of witness Fritz, appellant asked whether she heard anything going on in her grandmother's apartment (R 481). The witness answered that no, she did not. The subject matter of that question was, obviously the witness's ability to hear anything in the next apartment. On redirect therefore, the prosecutor established that the witness was a sound sleeper and did not wake up easily at sounds.

-46-

He established that she had lived in the apartment since May of 1983 and most importantly, that sound did not travel through the walls separating the two apartments (R 482). In fact, after the objection was made, it was established that the witness <u>never</u> heard anything coming from her grandmother's apartment. If those questions directed to the subject matter were not proper, then we need to redefine the meaning of the word relevance.

In the second instance, the witness, on direct examination directly testified that appellant had become upset at one time during their conversation (R 506). On crossexamination, defense counsel again opened up the area of appellant's demeanor at the scene. He directly asked the witness whether the appellant appeared to be upset (R 512). The question to which appellant objected was nothing more than determining just how upset he was. Obviously, if someone becomes hostile and make some kind of threatening gestures towards police officers, then common sense dictates such a person is fairly upset. The trial court abused absolutely no discretion in overruling the objections to the particular questions.

-47-

#### POINT XVI

# THE ONE PHOTOGRAPH DEPICTING THE VICTIM AS SHE WAS FOUND BY THE POLICE WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED.

#### ARGUMENT

Here appellant complains about the admission of a single photograph and contends that its introduction so severely prejudiced his case that he is entitled to a new trial.

The only case he relies upon is <u>O'Berry v. State</u>, 348 So.2d 670 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). There the court held that the admission of <u>three</u> exhibits, one of which being a color photograph of the victim was error, but not reversible error. While we have no quarrel with that holding, we note that the finding of error was predicated in part on the basis that the color photograph was cummulative since a black and white photograph of the same scene had previously been introduced.

Whatever the view of the district court in <u>O'Berry</u>, the view of <u>this</u> court has been repeatedly stated by reference to <u>State v. Wright</u>, 265 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1972), such that despite a photograph being gruesome or inflammatory, the test for admissibility is not one of necessity, but rather relevance. <u>See, e.g., Jackson v. State</u>, 359 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1978); <u>Foster</u> <u>v. State</u>, 369 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1979); <u>Gore v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 419 (Fla. Aug. 22, 1985).

That identity and cause of death were established by the medical examiner and other witnesses is of no consequence; what is not needed may still be relevant. Foster,

-48-

<u>supra.</u>

The relevance of this single photograph is obviously clear. The photograph depicts the condition of the victim when discovered by the police and corroborates the cause of death in addition to very clearly indicating a premeditated design. No error occurred by admitting the photograph.

#### POINT XVII

#### THE PROPRIETY OF ALLOWING THE POLICE TECHNICIAN TO TESTIFY HAS NOT BEEN PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

#### ARGUMENT

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion for new trial regarding this issue. An examination of the motion for new trial reveals that the only possible relationship between the motion and his issue is found in paragraph 3 (c) (R 2400) which refers to all objections made at trial. We contend that this is legally insufficient to raise this issue.

Even if the motion for new trial were sufficient, reference to the objection made at trial quickly reveals that appellant never objected to the technician's testimony. When the technician was asked whether he had performed any tests on the clothing of appellant, defense counsel only stated:

> MR. WOLFE: Excuse me, Your Honor. I don't believe this witness has been qualified as an expert in any kind of testing.

After the technician stated that he ran a Luminol test on the clothing, the following transpired:

> MR. WOLFE: Excuse me, Your Honor. I would like to raise the same objection. I would object as to the value and accuracy of that test and the results by this witness.

If a legal objection can be extracted from the above, it can only be one relating to the "value and accuracy" and the "results" of the test. Whatever that means, it is clear

-50-

that no objection on grounds of admissibility was lodged.

If the above were not present, the admission into evidence of the testimony was proper. The witness only testified that he performed a presumptive test and he related the results thereof. Indeed, defense counsel probably did more to establish the qualifications of the witness on crossexamination (R 651-653).

That a non-expert witness may nevertheless testify about certain matters was established in this state in <u>Peacock</u> <u>v. State</u>, 160 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964) and recognized by this court in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 570 (Fla. 1983). There, the principle in <u>Peacock</u> was held properly applicable to the opinion of a police officer who had training in firearms and had extensive work as an evidence technician. Such testimony is admissible; its weight, credence and effect are something to be considered by the trier of fact.

-51-

#### POINT XVIII

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE INSTRUCTIONS ON AGGRAVATED BATTERY, BATTERY AND ASSAULT\*

#### ARGUMENT

When, in a first degree murder prosecution, the evidence shows that the victim died, the case is a death case, not an assault case. This was established in <u>Sadler</u> <u>v. State</u>, 222 So.2d 797 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969). The principle of <u>Sadler</u>, <u>supra</u>, was specifically repeated and approved in <u>Brown v. State</u>, 245 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1971) and reaffirmed in <u>Martin v. State</u>, 342 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1977). <u>See also</u>, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.490. There is no merit to this point.

<sup>\*</sup>Appellant points to the motion for new trial as being the source of this issue. However, no mention thereof is present (R 2400). The issue was established upon the appellant's request for instructions during charge conference (R 919).

# POINT XIX

THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

# ARGUMENT

This issue was raised and summarily rejected in

Medina v. State, supra.

#### POINT XX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL MADE DURING SENTENCING PHASE OF PROCEEDINGS.

#### ARGUMENT

While it is true that appellant made a motion for mistrial based on comments made by the prosecutor, the motion was legally insufficent for two reasons.

In the first place, the motion fails to identify any particular comment which appellant found objectionable. The trial court was not required to guess which remark was being made the basis of the motion for mistrial.

In the second place, even if the motion had been sufficient, if was required to have been made no later than the close of the prosecutor's argument. <u>State v. Cumbie</u>, 380 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1980). The motion was not only made after the prosecutor concluded, but also after the defense had presented its closing remarks, and indeed, it came after the jury had retired for its deliberations. By failing to object at the proper time, appellant committed procedural default and thereby waived the right to raise this point on appeal. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

Disregarding the above, in order for prosecutorial misconduct to invalidate the penalty phase of a murder trial it must be egregious and so outrageous that it taints the validity of the jury's recommendation. <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 407 (Fla. Aug. 15, 1985). The one isolated remark

-54-

in this case is certainly less offensive than the several which were made in <u>Bertolotti</u>. What's more, the trial court, <u>sua sponte</u>, directed the jury to disregard the comment and there is and can be no indication that the jury's recommendation was in anyway influenced by the one remark.

#### POINT XXI

#### THIS POINT IS NOT PROPERLY PRE-SERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

#### ARGUMENT

As in the preceding point on appeal, this issue was not made the subject of any objection below, and based on the identical authorities, the issue has not been preserved for appellate review.

In spite of the above, when appellant was read his rights, he was neither under arrest nor in custody; it was <u>he</u> who caused the police officers to be on the scene in the first instance. Without the existence of custody, it is not even necessary to apply the harmless error rule recently announced in <u>State v. DiGuilio</u> 10 F.L.W. 430 (Fla. Aug. 29, 1985).

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